UNITED
NATIONS C RC

Convention on the D ERAL
Rights of the Child ORC/ & SR 390
5 June 1997

Oiginal: ENG.ISH

COW TTEE ON THE RI GHTS OF THE CHI LD
Fi fteenth session
SUMMARY RECORD COF THE 390t h MEETI NG

Hel d at the Palais des Nations, Geneva,
on Monday, 2 June 1997, at 10 a.m

Chai rperson: M ss MASON

CONTENTS
CONSI DERATI ON OF REPORTS OF STATES PARTI ES (conti nued)

Initial report of Azerbaijan

This record is subject to correction.

Corrections should be submitted in one of the working | anguages. They
shoul d be set forth in a nmenorandum and al so incorporated in a copy of the
record. They should be sent within one week of the date of this docunent to
the Oficial Records Editing Section, roomE. 4108, Palais des Nations, Geneva.

Any corrections to the records of the public nmeetings of the Commttee
at this session will be consolidated in a single corrigendum to be issued
shortly after the end of the session

GE. 97- 16857 (E)



CRC/ C/ SR. 390
page 2

The neeting was called to order at 10.05 a.m

CONSI DERATI ON OF REPORTS OF STATES PARTI ES (agenda item 6) (continued)

Initial report of Azerbaijan (CRC/C/ 11/ Add.8; CRC/ C Q AZER. 1)

1. At the invitation of the Chairperson, M. Efendiyev, M. Karayev,
M. Radj abov, and Ms. Evazova (Azerbaijan) took places at the Comrittee table.

2. The CHAI RPERSON wel conmed the del egation of Azerbaijan and invited it to
introduce the initial report of the Governnent of Azerbaijan (CRC/C/ 11/ Add.8).

3. M . EFENDI YEV (Azerbaijan) said that the Convention held particular

i nportance for the Republic of Azerbaijan. Followi ng its achievenent of

i ndependence in 1991, the country had rapidly taken strides in the devel opnment
of a denocratic society based on individual freedom human rights and the rule
of law. Azerbaijan was willing to enter into any formof internationa
cooperati on which would pronote those fundamental principles.

4, One of the primary concerns of Azerbaijan was the establishnent of peace
and security in the region. Regrettably, since 1988 the country had been
engaged in an undeclared war with Arnenia, which had seized 20 per cent of its
territory. Hundreds of thousands of Azerbaijani had been driven fromtheir
hones. In fact, there were currently nore than one mllion refugees in
Azerbaijan, two thirds of whom were wonmen and children. Twenty thousand
persons had been killed in the war; another 100,000 had been wounded. C ose
to 1,000 had been captured. The hostages included children, in contravention
of the fundanental precepts of international law, inter alia article 38,
paragraphs 1 and 4, of the Convention; Azerbaijan required support fromthe

i nternational conmunity in enforcing those provisions.

5. The war had given rise to a mgjor social and economc crisis, which had
significantly affected denographic indicators. The nunber of children who had
| ost one or both parents had nore than doubled, particularly in the occupied
regions. Furthernore, the breakdown of economic relations with the forner
Soviet Union, and the transition to a market economy, had exacerbated the
econom c crisis. In the occupied regions, pre-school establishnents, genera
education schools, technical and vocational schools, teacher training
institutes and sports facilities had been destroyed, affecting many thousands
of students. Educational institutions were currently being used to house
refugees and di spl aced persons, which disrupted the educational process.

6. In those circunstances, the Government had been obliged to identify and

i ntroduce additional child protection neasures. Urgent neasures had been
taken to | essen the inpact of the war, including the establishnment of many new
ki ndergartens and schools, sonme in refugee areas. By order of the Cabinet of
M ni sters, a | arge nunber of neasures ained at inproving the situation of
refugee children and forced mgrants were being put into effect. |ncreased
governnment al assi stance was being granted to famlies with children, and
speci al protection neasures had been adopted in order to provide such

assi stance to orphans and to children under the guardianship of the State. A



CRC/ C/ SR. 390
page 3

draft Act on the rights of the child, which was under consideration by the
Nat i onal Assenbly, was designed to ensure the political, social, economc, and
cultural protection of nothers, children and famlies, and to protect the
Azer bai j ani peopl e agai nst genoci de.

7. In 1992, the National Assenbly had adopted the Education Act,
establ i shing conmpul sory basic education for grades 1 through 8, and extending
the right to general education to all children and young peopl e regardl ess of
race, religion, national origin, or parental status. The Mnistry of
Education and the Mnistry of Youth and Sports Affairs were working to shape a
yout h policy, which included enphasis on cultural and aesthetic devel oprment.

8. Azer baijan had many State nedical facilities for children, including
children’s polyclinics and children’s divisions within adult clinics. State
heal th services provided preventive care; in 1994 thousands of persons

had been vacci nated agai nst poliomyelitis and tubercul osis and neasures had
al so been taken recently to conbat infectious diseases. On the basis of

WHO r econmendat i ons concerni ng i nmmuni zati on of children under the age of

Ssix years, Azerbaijan had introduced the use of vaccination prescriptions.
Furthernore, a massive vaccination canpai gn had been conducted between 1993
and 1996 to conbat a sharp increase in diphtheria, the necessary nedica
suppl i es being provided by UNICEF. 1In 1997, over 20,000 di sabled children
under the age of 16 had received special allowances, over 2,000 children had
recei ved orthopaedi c assistance, and others had benefited from wheel chairs,
prost heses, and rehabilitation services.

9. The Government had established a Iist of enterprises where, owing to
difficult or dangerous working conditions, children were forbidden to work

10. For soci o-econoni c reasons, crinme anmong children had increased in recent
years in Azerbaijan. Under current law, children over the age of 16 were
deened crimnally responsi bl e; whereas children between the ages of 14 and 16
were held responsible only in the case of murder. |If, in the view of a

court, inprisonment of a child under the age of 18 was undesirable, specia
rehabilitati on neasures were available to assist him The provision of |ega
aid to mnors was mandatory. The statistics showed that crines were mainly
committed by minors who did not attend school and were unenpl oyed, a
phenonenon rel ated to both the war and the econonmic crisis. In 1994, the
Government had | aunched a progranme to conmbat crinme anong mnors, which

i nvol ved the establishnment of social policies designed to inprove the lives of
young peopl e in general

11. Azerbaijan | egislation prohibited the use by children of narcotics and
ot her addictive drugs and established penalties for incitement to their use.
Measures had al so been taken in the schools to conbat the illegal use of
narcotics, including the dissem nation of educational bulletins to children
and teachers and the organi zati on of conferences and round tables. There were
staff psychol ogi sts specialized in the problem of narcotic use by young
peopl e.

12. The Children’s Fund of the Azerbaijani Republic, established to nobilize
soci ety on behalf of children, was currently focusing its attention on the
probl em of child refugees, children in displaced famlies and children



CRC/ C/ SR. 390

page 4

recei ving Government assistance. In conjunction with the Mnistry of Health,
it had set up a health centre for the prevention and treatnent of the nost
comon child ailnments. “lstedad”, a public service organization, had been set

up to identify and assist gifted children. There were many child-rel ated
public organi zations operating in Azerbaijan, anmong themthe Children’s
League, which endeavoured to secure the release of children taken hostage or
i mprisoned during the Arnmeni an occupation

13. I nternational organizations were assisting Azerbaijan in inplenmenting
the Convention and UNI CEF had provi ded generous assistance to refugees,
famlies, and children. In cooperation with the Mnistry of Youth and Sports

Affairs and the Mnistry of Education, it had |aunched a project for the
establishnment of a job-related rehabilitation centre. A National Council had
been established and a national programe had been | aunched to pronote the
devel opnent of children and adol escents, and to provide assistance to famlies
i n need.

14. He wi shed to assure the Committee that his Governnent was committed to
ensuring the inplenentation of the Convention in Azerbaijan.

15. The CHAI RPERSON i nvited questions and comments from nenbers of the
Conmittee on the “General Measures of Inplenmentation” (arts. 4, 42 and 44,
para. 6, of the Convention; questions Nos. 1 to 10 in the Commttee's list of
i ssues (CRC/C/Q AZER/1)). She drew attention to the witten replies of the
Gover nment of Azerbaijan, which had been circulated to nenbers.

16. Ms. SARDENBERG said that the report of Azerbaijan did not fully
conformwith the Commttee's Ceneral Cuidelines regarding the form and
contents of periodic reports. However, the witten replies that had been
furni shed partly conpensated for that failure. Paragraphs 46 and 47 of the
report (CRC/C/11/Add.8) indicated that no nmachinery had been devised to ensure
the inplenentati on of human rights or children’s rights. That was a matter

rai sed in question No. 5 of the Iist of issues; but the witten replies had
failed to provide clarification.

17. Par agraph 48 of the report stated that a draft Act on the rights of

the child was under consideration by the National Assenbly. It would be
useful to know whether that |egislation had been drafted in conformty with

i nternational human rights instrunents, and with the Convention in particular
and what were its prospects of adoption. Further information would be wel cone
on procedures for the collection of data, as well as on the role of the
Governnment and the Mnistries in that process.

18. Ms. KARP said that neither the report nor the witten answers provi ded
i ndi cated how coordi nation of the inplenmentation of children's rights worked
in practice in Azerbaijan. How did the Conm ssion on Mnors' Affairs function
on a day-to-day basis? Was it a decision-nmaking body and what was its budget?

19. Furthernore, the report gave no indication of the existence of a genera
action plan for the inplementation of children's rights. Information was
needed concerning the manner in which resources were used for that purpose.
Informati on was al so | acki ng concerning the ambunt of international aid

furni shed to Azerbaijan that was used for the benefit of children



CRC/ C/ SR. 390
page 5

20. It was inportant to know how child-care professionals, especially socia
wor kers and psychol ogi sts, were trained in Azerbaijan. Fromthe report it
appeared that there was insufficient manpower to deal satisfactorily with the
i mpl enentation of children's rights. That was especially significant given
the probl ens experienced by children in trauma and their need for
psychol ogi cal rehabilitation

21. She would also like to be informed regarding the extent to which the
pl anned new | egi sl ati on expressed the innovative ideas enbodied in the
Convention, not only in ternms of provision for education and health but also
inrelation to the enpowernent and participation of children and the

consi deration of their best interests.

22. Had academic institutions or non-governnental organizations carried out
studies with a view to devel oping policies and determ ning inplenentation
priorities?

23. M. RABAH said that, according to the initial report of Azerbaijan, the
country's difficulties resulted mainly fromthe wars in which it was invol ved,
especially with Arnenia. However, it would be useful to know what plans had
been drawn up for the country's redevel opment in social, econom c and
educational terms? That was particularly inportant in relation to children's
rights.

24. Azerbaijan's witten answers referred to a budgetary provision of
mllions of dollars for expansion of action in the social and cultural fields
in 1997. She wi shed to know how that sum was to be allocated and what woul d
be the duration of the different projects to be undertaken

25. Finally, there was a | ack of detailed statistics in Azerbaijan's initia
report. Further data should be provided.

26. Ms. OUEDRAOGO said that the report submtted had been difficult to read
because the Cormittee's reporting guidelines had not really been followed.
She woul d Iike to know how the report had been prepared and whet her NGOs had
participated in the drafting process.

27. It m ght have been preferable for Azerbaijan to have established a
singl e nati onal mechani smfor coordination, supervision and eval uation of the
i mpl enentati on of the Convention. She would Iike to know what was the rol e of
the Comm ssion for Mnors' Affairs set up within various national mnistries
and how the draft Code on Children's Rights had been drawn up? What

consul tations had taken place and did the Code take account of all the
Convention's provisions?

28. According to the report, the Convention had been translated into Azer
and di ssem nated at various |levels of society, including anong fanmlies and in
schools. She would Iike to know how the Convention was viewed anpong the

popul ation at |large and especially anong children. Were children demandi ng
respect for their rights?

29. I nformati on had been furni shed concerning expenditure on education
health and culture. What proportion of the budget did each of those sectors
receive.



CRC/ C/ SR. 390
page 6

30. Apart from UNI CEF, which other international organizations were active
in Azerbaijan on behalf of children; how many NGOs were working in that area
and how did the Governnent coordinate the activities of the different bodies
concer ned?

31. M. KOLOSOV asked whet her the text of the Convention was available in
Russi an and Arnmeni an, given that Azerbaijan had minority groups of those two
nationalities anong its popul ation

32. He al so asked whet her Azerbaijan was a party to the 1949 Ceneva
Conventions and to the Additional Protocols of 1977. |If not, the Governnent
shoul d take steps to renmedy that situation, given the conflicts in which
Azer bai jan was invol ved.

33. According to the report, problens had been encountered in nonitoring the
i mpl enentati on of the Convention. Wre NGOs able to carry out such nonitoring
and, if so, in what areas? Which public organizations were involved in the
official nonitoring process?

34. Finally, she would Iike to know whether the budget of the Children's
Fund was financed by neans of voluntary contributions or fromthe State
budget .

35. Ms. MOKHUANE said that the report indicated that the Convention had been
translated into various | anguages and distributed to schools. However,
reports from NGOs stated that young people were unaware of their rights and
did not have copies of the Convention. Wat was the reason for that apparent
contradiction?

36. In connection with the devel opnent of appropriate indicators, it was
i nportant to establish how policies relating to children's rights were
determined. Was there a special scientific institution which studied
children's problens?

37. The CHAI RPERSON asked whet her consi derati on had been given in Azerbaijan
to setting up a special mnistry to coordi nate nechanisns for the

i mpl enentation of children's rights. Ws there a systemof public foruns for
di scussion of the Convention and, if so, which aspects of the Convention had
given rise to nost controversy?

38. Was gui dance avail able to help ensure public understanding of the
principles of the Convention? The report identified two causes of the present
social situation in Azerbaijan: the war with Arnmenia and environmenta
problems resulting fromthe Chernobyl disaster. Had studies been conducted on
the inmpact of those two factors on children?

39. Ms. KARP suggested that consideration should be given in Azerbaijan to
the possibility of establishing an independent, non-official mechanismfor
noni toring the inplenmentation of the Convention and dealing with conplaints.

The neeting was suspended at 11.10 a.m and resuned at 11.25 a. m




CRC/ C/ SR. 390
page 7

40. The CHAI RPERSON invited the del egation to give prelimnary answers to
the questions asked by nenbers of the Cormittee. More detailed information
could be provided in witing at a |later date.

41. M. KARAYEV (Azerbaijan) said that despite the present difficulties the
conditions had been established for conpliance with the provisions of the
Convention on the Rights of the Child. He pointed out that Azerbaijan had
become an i ndependent State only in 1991. Followi ng the ceasefire in the war
between Azerbaijan and Arnenia in May 1994, the Mnistry for Youth and Sport
had been established by Presidential Decree. Coordination centres had al so
been established to work on youth policy issues and a Social Council had been
set up to work with children's organizations.

42. Replying to the question concerning the role NGOs had played in the
preparati on of the Governnent's report, he said that over 80 different youth
groups were currently operating in Azerbaijan. Twelve of themdealt with
issues relating to children, acted in defence of their rights and participated
in assistance to them The groups discussed rel evant docunments and adopted
recommendations related to the protection of children. They also played an
active role in conducting surveys of public opinion. A survey had been
undertaken of refugee and street children, for exanple.

43. One of the first programmes adopted by the Mnistry of Youth and Sport,
in cooperation with UNI CEF and ot her international organizations, had been
designed to assist the rehabilitation of children traumatized by the war.

44, A special training school had been established to prepare psychol ogi sts
for work with refugees. Simlar training was also provided in higher
education institutes. The graduates of those institutes worked directly in
refugee canmps and helped to train teachers and al so other persons who offered
di rect assistance to children at hone.

45, There had been broad public participation in the preparation of
Azerbaijan's report and the draft legislation relating to children that was
currently before the Parlianment. Special discussions had taken place with
NGOs and the latter had submtted coments and proposals. The text of the
report had been drawn up by the Cabi net of Mnisters.

46. Regardi ng the question of translation of the Convention into |anguages
ot her than Azeri, he pointed out that a Russian version of the instrument had
been provided by international organizations. Twenty per cent of Azerbaijan's
territory was currently occupi ed, however, and that area was inhabited by
Azerbaijani citizens of Arnmenian nationality. Since jurisdiction did not
currently extend to the area, distribution of the Convention in the Arnenian
| anguage was not possible. Once the territory had been recovered, follow ng
t he successful conclusion of peace tal ks, an Arnenian version would be
distributed. Although it was not possible, for econonic reasons, to provide
school children with individual copies of the Convention, the text was
circulated to every school in the Republic and formed part of the syllabus.

47. Every district or nunicipal |egislative body appointed an official with
responsi bility for humanitarian affairs and the inplenentation of treaties,
i ncluding the Convention on the Rights of the Child. Courses had been



CRC/ C/ SR. 390
page 8

speci ally designed for the public authorities with the assistance of the
United Nations Children's Fund (UNI CEF) and other international organizations
dealing with children's affairs.

48. M. RADJABOV (Azerbaijan) said that the draft law on the rights of the
child was as yet inconplete and would probably be submtted to the Parlianent
for approval in Septenber or October 1997. It had been submitted in its
present formto UNICEF for an expert opinion. The bill was closely nodelled
on the Convention

49. Owing to the arned conflict, the econom c situation in Azerbaijan was
extrenely unstable. The Parlianment had neverthel ess adopted a social budget,
with 40 per cent of the total funds earmarked for social needs, including
children's welfare. For exanple, 280,000 mllion manats had been voted for
soci al protection, 81,000 nmllion nmanats for social security, 245,000 nmillion
manats for health services and 6,500 million manats for sports. Mre detailed
figures would be provided later in a witten subm ssion

50. The Cabi net of Mnisters had set up a Conmmi ssion to nonitor

i mpl enentation of the Convention. It was currently conposed of members of
Parliament and representatives of NGOs and ot her public and private bodi es but
woul d shortly be restructured in the light of the specific requirenents of the
Conventi on.

51. In the aftermath of the armed conflict Azerbaijan had received a | arge
amount of assistance frominternational humanitarian organi zati ons such as

UNI CEF, the O fice of the United Nations Hi gh Comm ssioner for Refugees
(UNHCR), the World Food Progranme (WFP), the United Nations Devel opnent
Programme (UNDP) and the International Organization for Mgration (IOM. A

ki ndergarten for disabled children financed by the Mbil G Corporation and
desi gned by Save the Children had just been opened. Sone territories
liberated fromthe invaders had been conpletely devastated. UNDP and ot her
organi zati ons were hel ping to rebuild houses and schools so that at |east sone
of the refugees, many of whom were children, could be returned to their hones.

52. The NGOs that were helping to inplenent the Convention included 80 youth
organi zations, 18 wonen's organizations and 16 humani tari an organi zati ons. A
new bill on NGOs was being drafted with the help of [awyers from UNHCR

53. The Children's Fund was a public body. It was basically self-financing
but al so received continuing assi stance from UNI CEF.

54. Azerbaijan's new | egislati on was nodelled on United Nations treaties and
the laws in force in other countries. The Commission drafting the bill on the
rights of the child had studied the corresponding legislation in Turkey, the
countries of the forner Soviet Union, Germany, Cuba, Bulgaria, Poland, the
United Kingdom the United States and Italy. The Convention was being taken
into account in the draft |egislation on NGOs, youth organizations, medica

i nsurance, and physical education and sport. Previous |egislation was also
bei ng anended in the Iight of the Convention



CRC/ C/ SR. 390
page 9

55. M. KARAYEV said that a Foundation for Disadvantaged Azeri Children and
Youth was shortly to be opened in Baku. It was an outstandi ng exanpl e of
cooperation between the public authorities, NGOs, international organizations
and international corporations developing oil deposits in the Caspian Sea.

O phans and disabled children in the 16 to 18 age group woul d manage and
operate a parcel delivery service using nopeds and ot her vehicles supplied by
UNI CEF. They woul d be selected by the Mnistry of Youth and Sport and trai ned
by the Mnistry of Education. The oil conpani es would subsidize the project.
Di sabled children in the sane age group would be trained to provide nmora
support to children in distress through a Child Hel p Line.

56. M. KOLOSOV noted that the Convention was to be distributed to
Armeni an- speakers when the occupied territories were recovered. Wre there no
Ar meni an- speakers currently under the jurisdiction of Azerbaijan?

57. He stressed the inportance of ratifying the 1949 Geneva Conventi ons,

whi ch contai ned a number of provisions regarding children. Article 38 of the
Convention on the Rights of the Child drew attention to the obligations of
States parties under international humanitarian |law. He wondered why

Azer baijan had not sent a representative to the conference of nenmber countries
of the Commonweal th of |ndependent States (CIS) on international humanitarian
| aw held on 15 and 16 May in Kazan, the capital of Tatarstan in the

Russi an Federati on.

58. If NGOs in Azerbaijan had the right to nmonitor children's institutions
such as remand centres, their situation was inconparably better than that of
NGOs in other CI'S nenber countries, including the Russian Federation. He
asked for nore details of how the system worked.

59. The arnmed conflict had understandably led to an increase in the nunber
of street children but he felt sure that other factors were involved since
they were a phenonenon experienced by all CI'S countries.

60. In his view, training courses in children's rights for the public
authorities should be held on an ongoi ng basis and not just on a single
occasi on.

61. There was a proposal to celebrate International Children's Day annually
on 20 Novenber, the date of the adoption of the Convention. Wuld Azerbaijan
consider noving its celebrations from1l June to 20 Novenber? Had the
Conventi on been nentioned the previous day in the media coverage of Nationa
Children's Day?

62. Ms. KARP asked whet her teachers, who m ght have doubts about the idea
of children's rights, were being trained to understand and appreciate the
purpose of the Convention. Wre training courses provided for |ocal as well
as central authorities?

63. How di d Azerbaijan define its priorities for inplenentation of the
Convention and were there particular areas in which it would be willing to
accept technical assistance?



CRC/ C/ SR. 390
page 10

64. What was the ratio of budgetary appropriations for the social

devel opnent of children conpared with, for exanple, appropriations for

def ence? What proportion of international assistance received by Azerbaijan
was al located to children's welfare?

65. M . EFENDI YEV (Azerbaijan) said that an Arnenian version of the
Convention existed but could not be distributed as there were no

Ar meni an- speakers under Azerbaijani jurisdiction. Children of Arnmenian
background were living in the occupi ed Nagorny Karabakh Aut ononpbus Regi on

66. M. KARAYEV (Azerbaijan) said that his country had less than five years
experience with denocratic institutions. Teachers and children would
therefore need tine to participate fully in the process of inplenenting the
Conventi on.

67. He coul d not speak on behalf of the Mnistry of Foreign Affairs but felt
sure that the Geneva Conventions woul d soon be ratified by Azerbaijan. He had
not heard of the Tatarstan conference and was therefore unable to explain why
his country had not attended it.

68. He had no hesitation in attributing the problemof street children to
the inpact of the armed conflict. Funds that could have been used to address
the problem were being channelled into the effort to |iberate the occupied
territories. He had provided the Conmittee with the draft programe for
street children which had been prepared by UNI CEF and | ocal organizations.

69. Initial training of education personnel working in rural areas had been
undertaken wi th assistance from UNI CEF and regi onal bodies, and woul d be
pursued on a regular basis. Mre would be done to advertise Nationa
Children's Day and to nmake children nore aware of the provisions of the
Convention. The famly traditions in which some people had grown up were
sonetimes at variance with the provisions of the Convention, and that had to
be taken into consideration, along with the nmental attitudes of a country

whi ch had lived under Islamc |aw since the seventh century and Communi st | aw
since early in the present century. Both teachers and children would
gradual | y becone nore aware of the Convention, and the Governnent was

begi nning that process with the nost intelligent and educated menmbers of
society. In cooperation with the United Nations Children's Fund (UNI CEF) it
had invited psychol ogi sts and social workers from Azerbaijani State
universities to work in the refugee canps, inplenmenting and explaining the
Conventi on.

70. M. RADJABOV (Azerbaijan) said that non-governnental organizations
(NGCs) were a new concept for recently independent sovereign States, and one
that was not yet fully understood. The Covernnent of Azerbaijan was preparing
draft |egislation concerning them The existence of an opposition politica
party and freedom of the press were two factors helping to identify problens
connected with the inplenmentation of the Convention. A comm ssion headed by
Deputy Prime M nister Efendiev coordinated the activities of all organizations
involved in the inplenentation of the instrunent. The Government's interests
and those of the NGOs coincided: both were seeking to identify problens
related to the rights of the child. Wthout the assistance of the NGOs the
Government could not do all that was required of it under the Convention




CRC/ C/ SR. 390
page 11

Forty per cent of the national budget, which was currently in deficit, was

all ocated to social needs such as health, education and recreation. The exact
figures and the proportion specifically allocated to children would be nmade
available to the Commttee in witing at a | ater stage.

71. Ms. KARP said that her question regarding priorities for internationa
techni cal assistance had not yet been answered. It was possible under the
Convention for a State party to obtain technical assistance fromthe Centre
for Human Rights or any other United Nations agency for a specific project or
series of projects. However, the Covernnent of the State party had to make
application for that assistance. She wondered if the Government of Azerbaijan
had identified sectors for which it m ght request such assistance.

72. M . KARAYEV (Azerbaijan) said that his country had already received
techni cal assistance in areas inportant for children frominternationa

organi zations, especially UNI CEF and UNESCO. Wen the Governnent and NGOs
were working on various programes, they sought the opinions and experience of
i nternational organizations and other countries. Every draft of the | aws
being prepared in relation to the child was sent to other European countries
for a second expert opinion

73. Nearly 1.2 mllion out of Azerbaijan's total popul ation of

some 7.5 mllion were refugees, and the main target of all assistance

to Azerbaijan in relation to the Convention nust be those children who were
living under extrene conditions as a result of the Armenian occupation

74. M. RADJABOV (Azerbaijan) said that technical assistance was being
provi ded to Azerbaijan in two areas: social and |abour rehabilitation
programes for refugees and other categories of people, and institutional and
structural reform

75. UNI CEF was hel ping with heal th nanagenent reforns in one of Azerbaijan's
regions and the United Nations Industrial Devel opment Organization (UNI DO was
provi di ng assistance in the Sungait free econonic zone, involving nodification
of the entire structure of econonm ¢ nanagenment, with new forns of ownership

At present Azerbaijan needed all the assistance it could get: after 2005 the
econom c situation would inprove as a result of the conclusion of a nunber of
oil contracts, but until then conditions would be very difficult. Today
Azer bai jan needed donors; tonorrow it itself would be a donor

76. Ms. KARP said that she had been interested to learn of the

i nternational technical assistance currently being received by Azerbaijan, but
she really wanted to know about future projects - what were the Governnent's
priorities?

77. The CHAI RPERSON expl ai ned that one of the Conmittee's responsibilities
was to point a State party towards assistance, but it needed to know i n what
areas assi stance was needed. |If, for exanple, a State party was finding it
difficult to incorporate the Convention into its donmestic |egislation, the
Centre for Human Rights could assist in that regard, but the request had to
come fromthe country itself. In its report the Conmttee m ght recomend
that a State party subnit a request for technical assistance froma particular
agency, but it needed to know what the priority project areas were.




CRC/ C/ SR. 390
page 12

78. She invited the menbers of the Conmittee to ask questions concerning
“definition of the child” (art. 1), “general principles” (arts. 2, 3, 6
and 12) and “civil rights and freedons” (arts. 7-8, 13-14 and 37 (a)),
guestions Nos. 11 to 21 of the list of issues (CRC/C/ Q AZER/ 1).

79. Ms. MBO said that she wanted better to understand Azerbaijan's
definition of the child. Ws there, for exanple, a mninmmage for |egal and
medi cal counsel | ing without parental consent, and if so what was that age?

Was education conmpul sory, and if so up to what age? Wis there a legal m ni num
age for sexual consent, and when were sexual relations deemed to be rape? Was
there a legal m ninumage for enlistment in the armed forces, for crimna
responsibility, and for the consunption of al cohol and tobacco? The infant
nmortality rate of Azerbaijan was reported to have declined and then |evelled

off in the 1980s, only to rise again in the 1990s. Infant nortality had
various causes, sone related to econom c and social underdevel opnent and many
preventable. It was one area in which international technical assistance

woul d be appropriate. Did Azerbaijan have a national strategy for the health
and nutrition of young wonmen and pregnant women in particular, and for the

el imnati on of preventable, inmmunizable diseases, which would reduce the rate
of infant nortality? WAs there any conmunity nobilization to reduce it?

80. Ms. OUEDRAOGO asked what provisions concerning the m ni nrum age for

marri age woul d be included in Azerbaijan's draft law on the rights of the
child. What was the basis for the discrimnation on grounds of gender which
resulted in the age of consent for sexual relations being 18 years for boys
and 17 for girls? The witten reply to question 14 of the |list of issues, to
the effect that there was no discrimnation against children in Azerbaijan

was nost wel come, but she wondered what happened in practice with so many
different ethnic groups living in the country. Did the Governnment deal in the
same manner with all children living in Azerbaijan, including the children of
refugees; what problens were encountered in that regard and how were they

sol ved? What neasures had been taken to take account of gender bal ance in the
wor kpl ace and to ensure that wonen, especially nothers and refugees, did not

| ose their jobs? What status did the girl child have in the famly, and did
she enjoy the sane treatnment as the boy child in terms of her health and the
domestic work that m ght be expected of her? Wat neasures were being taken
by the Governnent to prevent any such discrimination on the basis of gender?

81. M . RABAH asked whether there was a special |aw distinguishing between
the status of a child aged between 16 and 18 and that of one aged under 16.
He al so wi shed to know what puni shnments could be inposed by a juvenile court
on children between the ages of 16 and 18 and on those under the age of 14.
The witten reply to question 31 of the Cormittee's list of issues had given
t he nunber of disabled children under 16 years of age receiving pensions in
Azerbaijan as of 1 January 1997; what was the reason for that particul ar age,
and why was it not 18 or 17 years? Was there equality between boys and girls
in respect of inheritance |aw and which was the |law applied - was it Islamc

| aw concerni ng personal status or civil |aw?

82. Ms. KARP said it was her understanding that special protection in terms
of all owances and treatnent for disabled children was avail able only up to the
age of 16 years. |If that was correct, why was that so and what was the reason

for the choice of that age? Wth regard to the witten reply to question 12



CRC/ C/ SR. 390
page 13

of the list of issues concerning the age at which children could seek redress
in court, she said she did not understand why there was a di fference between
the situation of children under the age of 15 years and that of those over
that age. The rights and statutorily protected interests of those under 15
were said to be defended in court by their | egal representatives, adoptive
parents or guardians, and those of persons aged between 15 and 18 by their
natural or adoptive parents or guardians. At what age could a child in
Azerbai jan have protection of his interests wthout that being dependent on
whet her his or her parents or |egal guardi ans brought the case to court? 1In
what way did Azerbaijan's new legislation really provide a |legal basis for a
child s voice to be heard and require courts and adm nistrative authorities to
take his or her views into account? To what extent did the new | egislation
really require the decisions of a court or administrative authority dealing
with children to be in accordance with their best interests?

83. Wth reference to non-discrimnation and human rights, she considered it
highly inmportant that Azerbaijan, a new denocracy developing its nationa
institutions and public attitudes, should accede to the other internationa
human rights instrunents to which it was not yet a party.

The neeting rose at 1 p.m




